2011

Utah v. Fernando Gonzalez-Camargo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2) (e) (2008). Appellant Fernando Gonzalez-Camargo was convicted of possession of a controlled substance, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8 (2)(a)(i) (2007), and theft by receiving stolen property, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-408(1) (2008). R. 298-300. A copy of the judgment is in Addendum A.

ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue I: Whether the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Gonzalez-Camargo constructively possessed methamphetamine located in a metal box in a bedroom that was not solely occupied by Gonzalez-Camargo and there was no additional evidence establishing a sufficient nexus between Appellant and the methamphetamine.

Standard of Review. When the sufficiency of the evidence in a jury trial is challenged, the standard of review requires that the “evidence and the reasonable inferences which may be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the jury verdict.” *State v. Johnson*, 774 P.2d 1141, 1147 (Utah 1989). A jury verdict can be reversed for insufficient evidence where the evidence “is sufficiently inconclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime of which he was convicted.” *Id.*; see also *State v. Robbins*, 2009 UT 23, ¶14, 210 P.3d 288. The “trial court’s interpretation of binding case law [presents] a question of law” that is reviewed for correctness. *State v. Stewart*, ---P.3d---, 2011 WL 2276499, ¶6. And, “when it is apparent that there is not sufficient competent evidence as to each element of the crime charged for the fact-finder to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant committed the crime,” the conviction must be overturned. *State v. Layman*, 1999 UT 79, ¶12, 985 P.2d 911

Preservation: This issue is preserved at R. 346:112-115; 241-50. See Addendum B containing record relevant to the preservation of this issue.

Issue II: Whether admission of a university police officer’s multiple hearsay testimony that he had read a report indicating that a computer had been stolen from a department in the university and other university records violated the rules of evidence and Appellant’s right to confrontation, requiring a new trial.

Standard of Review: The “standard of review on the admissibility of hearsay evidence is complex[.]” *State v. Workman*, 2005 UT 66, ¶10, 122 P.3d 639. This Court reviews “the legal questions to make the determination of admissibility for correctness.”

Id. It reviews any factual findings that may have been made for clear error, and reviews the “district court’s ruling on admissibility for abuse of discretion.” *Id.* Moreover, “[m]atters of constitutional interpretation are questions of law” that are reviewed for correctness,” and “[t]he district court’s decision to admit testimony that may implicate the confrontation clause is also a question of law reviewed for correctness.” *State v. Poole*, 2010 UT 25, ¶8, 232 P.3d 519.

Preservation: The hearsay issue is preserved at R. 346:36-45, contained in Addendum C. The confrontation claim can be reviewed for plain error. *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1202, 1203 (Utah 1993).

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The text of the following is in Addendum D:

Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8 (2)(a)(i) (2007);

Utah Code Ann. §76-6-408 (2007);

Rules 801, 803, Utah Rules of Evidence;

U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Gonzalez-Camargo with three counts: possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute, a second degree felony; receiving stolen property with a value exceeding \$5,000, a second degree felony; and possession of a weapon by a restricted person, a third degree felony. Following preliminary hearing, the State moved to consolidate this case with that of Jovalee Lucero who was charged with the same counts. R. 54-61. The trial court denied the motion. R. 66.

A jury trial was held on June 29-30, 2010. R. 182-83, 232-33. The State failed to put on evidence indicating that the controlled substance was possessed with intent to distribute or that the allegedly stolen property had a value exceeding \$300. The trial court therefore granted Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on those elements, and sent the case to the jury on charges of possession of a controlled substance, a third degree felony, receiving stolen property, a class B misdemeanor, and possession of a weapon by a restricted person, a second degree felony. R. 238-39.

The jury acquitted Gonzalez-Camargo of possessing the sawed off shotgun found in the closet of a bedroom that was not solely occupied by Appellant, in a house occupied by numerous people. R. 234. It convicted him of possession of methamphetamine located in a metal box in that bedroom and receiving stolen property based on a computer found in the bedroom. R. 234.

Following trial and before sentencing, Appellant filed a motion to correct the record to reflect the trial court's order granting a directed verdict on the "intent to distribute" element of the possession charge and also on reduction of the theft by receiving charge to a class B misdemeanor. R. 238-39. The trial court granted that motion. R. 259.

Gonzalez-Camargo also filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and to arrest judgment, asking that the verdict be set aside because the State failed to prove that Gonzalez-Camargo constructively possessed the methamphetamine. R. 248-50; reply 269-77. The trial judge denied the motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. R. 291-94.

On December 6, 2010, the trial court sentenced Appellant to serve 365 days in the Salt Lake County Jail, and then to serve probation of three years. R. 298-300.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal and a petition for certificate of probable cause, which the trial judge denied. R. 301, 309-12, 342. Appellant is being held in the Salt Lake County Jail.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Agents from the Attorney General's office conducted surveillance on two apartments in a four-plex at 813 North Riverside Drive on the afternoon of September 29, 2009. The officers observed vehicular and foot traffic and two hand to hand buys involving two different sellers outside the four-plex. R. 345:118, 119, 158, 201. People involved in those hand to hand drug transactions came out of the upstairs apartments but the officers did not know whether they came out of Apartment B or D. R. 345:158. Officers did not detain the people involved in the hand to hand drug transactions and did not know who they were. R. 345:159. Testimony did not indicate that Gonzalez-Camargo was involved in the transactions or even present.

Officers also observed various individuals, some of whom arrived on bikes, enter the four-plex. R. 345:202. These individuals often had backpacks or bags and some would later exit without the backpacks or bags. R. 345:202. People also exited the four-plex and approached vehicles on the curb where they engaged in brief conversations then returned to the apartments. R. 345:202. In addition, officers saw people they characterized as "lookouts" and "at various times an individual would come out and

begin to walk the neighborhood on a cell phone.” R. 245:203. Gonzalez-Camargo was not identified as being involved in any of these incidents.

Late in the evening of September 29, 2009, officers also stopped and searched a vehicle that had left the residence. R. 345:187. They found a number of electronics and construction tools in the car, but let the driver go. R. 345:188. It was unclear from the testimony whether the driver was Angel Ovieda Orio or Alejandro Ramirez. R. 242; 345:187-89.

Agents arrived at the four-plex at about 10:15 p.m. in anticipation of executing a search warrant on Apartments B and D. R. 345:117, 123, 124, 186. Shortly after midnight on September 30, 2009, a large SWAT team began execution of the search warrant; there “was a great number of people there” so rather than execute the search warrant in Apartments B and D “in a normal fashion where they kick in the door and enter,” the SWAT team used a bullhorn to “call[] the residents of the entire apartment building outside.” R. 345:124, 171, 187. Twelve to fourteen people emerged and were placed on the curb. R. 345:121, 232. Several of the individuals on the curb lived in the apartment building. R. 345:171. Officers either arrested the people on the curb or found out where they lived and released them. R. 345:171.

The SWAT team, which included dozens of agents, then entered and spent about an hour securing Apartments B and D. R. 345:121, 159, 160. The SWAT team had at least one canine unit and asked the agents “not to enter until the canine was done.” R. 345:209. While the SWAT team was inside, there was continued foot traffic to apartments in the four-plex. R. 345:160. The agents watched from a distance, then

entered the premises about thirty minutes to an hour after the SWAT team. R. 345:123, 190. Other agents and SWAT team members had entered before Agents Call and Metcalf, and the two agents were unsure who had been inside the apartment before them. R. 345:171, 190. No SWAT team members testified.

Appellant, Fernando Gonzalez-Camargo was one of the people removed from Apartment D of the four-plex. He, along with the others, was seated on the curb outside the four-plex while the agents entered and searched the apartments. R. 345:130, 172. Jovalee Lucero, who was also arrested, was one of the people on the curb. R. 345:135. Agent Call did not see Gonzalez-Camargo in the four-plex before seeing him on the curb. R. 345:161. Another officer testified that he had seen Appellant in the vicinity of the apartments in early August, 2008. R. 346:60-61, 63. Agent Spann talked to Gonzalez-Camargo when he was on the curb and helped move him to a different location. R. 345:228. Gonzalez-Camargo was later questioned inside Apartment D. R. 345:171.

Gonzalez-Camargo, who could speak English unlike many of the occupants, asked the officers questions about what was going on. R. 345:258; 346:80. He asked whether there was a problem or if the officers were looking for someone. R. 346:80. He requested that he be allowed to speak to an officer. R. 345:259. According to Agent Spann, Gonzalez-Camargo identified himself as a resident of Apartment D, and said he lived inside with his girlfriend and was concerned about her well-being. R. 345:228, 229. Appellant testified, however, that he did not tell officers he lived in the apartment. R. 346:94. Gonzalez-Camargo's girlfriend was also arrested. R. 345:260.

When Agent Call entered the northwest bedroom of Apartment D over an hour after the SWAT team, he observed an open black metal box on the bed. R. 345:126. The box contained nine baggies of methamphetamine and a few baggies of marijuana; although boxes containing drugs are often locked, this one was unlocked when Agent Call entered the bedroom. R. 345:126, 162. Plastic baggies, a scale, and a meth pipe were also in the room, but there were no customer lists or receipts. R. 345:127, 128. In addition, a sawed-off shotgun was in the closet, leaning against the wall, and laptops and a couple of car stereos were on the floor. R. 345:127, 128. The clothing was not hanging in front of the shotgun when he entered but could have been moved by other officers. R. 345:162. Because Agent Call entered the bedroom after the SWAT team and others, he did not know whether the items in the bedroom had been moved by other officers. R. 345:161.

When Agent Metcalf entered the bedroom to process evidence, the box with methamphetamine was on the floor next to a mattress. R. 345:174. The closet was “pretty full” and contained several computers stacked next to each other and clothing for adult men and women along with children’s clothing that still had tags. R. 345:174, 175, 178. One of the computers had a Utah State University sticker attached to it. R. 345:179. Agent Metcalf also found cameras, two video recorders, and several cell phones in the northwest bedroom. R. 345:181. One of the cellphones had a picture of Agent Metcalf’s eleven year old neighbor on the screen. R. 345:182. Agent Metcalf testified that he showed the phone to his neighbor and asked whether it was his, but the State presented

no testimony from the neighbor or anyone else regarding the response to this question.

R. 345:183.

The metal box was in a different place, on a chair surrounded by cell phones that were ringing when Agent Lucey entered the room. R. 345:204, 205. The three cellphones were on the bed at some point and later on the chair. R. 345:235. By then, the SWAT team, at least one and possibly two canine units, and other investigators from the Attorney General's office had been in the bedroom. R. 345:204. Agent Lucey was in the apartment for several hours and testified that the cell phones continued to ring steadily during that time. R. 345:205. Neither he nor the other agents gave information as to where the cell phones or metal box had been found. Clothes were still in the room, but many had been moved to the bed. R. 345:205. The agents did not see computer manuals, customer lists, work space, business cards or a license in Gonzalez-Camargo's name, or computer repair tools. R. 345:184, 206, 235.

The State showed a video of an officer walking through the apartment. See State's Exh. 6. It is unclear at what point in the search this video was taken. A portion of the video shows the northwest bedroom. Toward the start of the video, three cellphones are shown on a chair in the room and the metal box is closed and on the bed. By the end, four cellphones are in the chair and the contents of the room had again been disturbed. The video also shows the closed metal box in one place and later moved. R. 345:239; Exh. 6. Agent Spann testified that the box had money, packages of methamphetamine, and packages of marijuana. R. 345:239.

The video also shows a number of women's belongings in the northwest bedroom including purses, clothing, jewelry, perfume, makeup, and a jewelry box. Exh. 6. Identification for the woman sitting on the couch was found in the northwest bedroom, and that woman's purse was also in the bedroom. R. 345:87-88.

The State did not present the testimony of any of the SWAT team members who initially entered the bedroom, nor did it present any testimony from the person who first found the metal box. R. 244. The State therefore did not establish where the metal box was found.

The agents also found items in the southwest bedroom. Those included a drug pipe, baggies, and a fraudulent permanent resident card. R. 345:163; Exh. 6. They found a paystub for Raoul in that bedroom, and various electronics. R. 345:234; Exh. 6. Gonzalez-Camargo testified that Raoul lived in Apartment D. R. 346:97.

Officers found electronics in the hall closet and a social security card in the toilet with the name Marco Antonio Gurrollo. Exh. 6; R. 345:17. Additionally, agents found items, including a firearm, in Apartment B. R. 345:192-93.

After securing the premises and investigating for a while, officers brought fourteen people "back into their apartment, and then the interview process and the identity of folks continued at that time." R. 345:232, 129. Agent Call interviewed Raoul inside the apartment. R. 345:130. Various agents also interviewed Appellant after officers moved him back inside Apartment D. R. 345:130, 232.

When agents carrying computers that came from the northwest bedroom walked by Appellant, Gonzalez-Camargo asked where the officers were going with his

computers. R. 345:101, 207, 232. Gonzalez-Camargo told the officers that he repaired the computers for other people, that he fixed computers for a living, and that the computers were not stolen. R. 345:208, 232; 346:21, 84. Spann testified that Gonzalez – Camargo gestured toward the northwest bedroom and said that the computers were in his bedroom. R. 345:233. But on cross-examination, Spann acknowledged that his report said only that Gonzalez-Camargo motioned his head toward the rear of the residence, and did not include a statement from Appellant that it was his bedroom. R. 345:257. In fact, nowhere in Agent Spann’s report did he say that Gonzalez-Camargo indicated that the northwest room was his bedroom. R. 345:257. And, Agent Spann did not testify at the preliminary hearing that Appellant had said that he lived in the apartment or indicated that the northwest bedroom was his. R. 346:22. Gonzalez-Camargo testified that he did not tell officers that he lived in the apartment and denied living there. R. 346:74.

Agent Call testified that he returned a computer to an individual, but that one of the laptops “belonged to Edward Wright.” R. 345:134. After defense counsel objected, the agent testified that the computer was returned to John Amtoft. R. 345:134. Neither John Amtoft nor Edward Wright testified that the computer was stolen. Instead, a detective with the Utah State University police department testified over defense objection that he was “familiar with a matter involving a stolen laptop – a laptop stolen from a Utah University employee” and that he had verified through university records that the computer was university property, and through police reports that the computer in question was stolen. R. 346:35, 36, 40, 50. The State did not present any testimony from the owner of a computer that the computer was stolen.

The defense presented evidence indicating that Appellant did not live in the apartment. Gonzalez-Camargo testified that he had lived at a West Valley City address with his family since 2008, and was living at that address on September 30, 2009. R. 346:72. He introduced bills with his name and the West Valley City address on them. R. 346:73; Exh. 3, 4. These included a letter from Granite Credit Union and a bill from Select Health. R. 346:74. He testified that he had never lived in the apartment, but knew people who lived there. R. 346:74. He did not receive mail at the Riverside apartment. R. 346:78. He did store a bag of clothes in the apartment because he did not have room in his house. R. 346:77-78. He did not keep other things there. R. 346:78.

Gonzalez-Camargo's sister, Rafaela, also testified that Appellant lived with her in West Valley City. R. 346:71. He had lived at the West Valley City house since sometime in 2008, and had not lived at another location during that time. R. 346:71.

As part of the defense case, Gonzalez-Camargo testified that he had cash on his person that night and was paid in cash when he sold his car. R. 346:81. The State did not present evidence that Gonzalez-Camargo had cash as part of its case. Johnny Hernandez testified that he purchased Appellant's '63 Chevy Impala for \$2500 on September 8, 2009. R. 346:269. He paid cash. R. 346:270.

The man who lived in Apartment B repaired computers and people brought their computers to him. R. 346:77. Sometimes Gonzalez-Camargo helped with the repairs, using the other man's tools, or installed programs. R. 346:77.

Gonzalez-Camargo testified further that he had been visiting the apartments three or four times a week since sometime in 2008. R. 346:75, 98. He stayed there about once a week. R. 346:96. People got together at the apartment to do things like eat meals prepared by one of the occupants who was a good cook, play darts, and watch soccer. R. 346:76. Twelve or more people lived in the apartment, but others visited. R. 346:76. Sixteen or seventeen people were in the apartments on the night of the search, drinking beers and watching a soccer game. R. 346:79. Appellant testified that he had arrived about 2:00 or 3:00 p.m. that afternoon, and had not brought anything with him. R. 346:78-79.

The jury acquitted Gonzalez-Camargo of possessing the gun found in the closet. It convicted him of constructively possessing the methamphetamine found in the metal box and possessing stolen property. R. 234. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The conviction for possession of a controlled substance should be overturned and an acquittal entered because the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a sufficient nexus existed between Gonzalez-Camargo and the methamphetamine found in a metal box in a room that he did not solely occupy. The bedroom where the metal box was located was occupied by a female whose belongings and identification were found in the room. The only belongings even arguably attributable to Appellant were men's clothing and computers found in the closet. Even if this were enough to establish that Gonzalez-Camargo stayed in the room on occasion, the State failed to introduce additional evidence which is necessary to prove the requisite nexus. The State failed to

introduce evidence as to where exactly the metal box was found or whether it was open, closed or locked. Rather than presenting testimony from the officers who found the box, the State used officers who arrived later and saw the metal box in several different locations. Hence, the metal box could have been hidden among the woman's personal belongings, and there is no evidence that it was comingled with male belongings or that Appellant even knew about it.

None of the factors that are usually considered in combination to establish constructive possession existed in this case – Gonzalez-Camargo was not present when the drugs were found, the drugs were not in open view, the State did not establish that he had access to the drugs, he was not in proximity to the drugs, there was no evidence of mutual use and enjoyment of the drugs, and there were no statements or behavior that incriminated Gonzalez-Camargo in regard to the methamphetamine. Under the evidence presented, it is just as likely if not more so, that someone other than Gonzalez-Camargo possessed the methamphetamine found in the metal box, and Appellant knew nothing about it. The evidence is sufficiently inconclusive, requiring that the conviction be reversed.

The conviction for receiving stolen property should also be reversed and the matter remanded for a new trial on this count because the State relied on inadmissible hearsay to establish that the property was stolen. The inadmissible hearsay testimony of a detective that he had reviewed stolen property reports and university records to verify that the computer was stolen did not fit within the business records exception, as the judge incorrectly ruled, since the State did not introduce the records themselves, police

reports are not business records, the State did not lay the foundation for the exception, and the detective was not the custodian of the records or otherwise qualified. In addition to violating the rules of evidence, the hearsay testimony violated Gonzalez-Camargo's right to confrontation. The error was prejudicial because the State did not otherwise establish that the property was stolen.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH THAT GONZALEZ-CAMARGO CONSTRUCTIVELY POSSESSED METHAMPHETAMINE FOUND IN A METAL BOX IN A BEDROOM THAT APPELLANT DID NOT SOLELY OCCUPY.

While the State need not prove actual possession of a controlled substance in order to convict, the State must nevertheless introduce sufficient evidence to establish a "nexus between the accused and the drug" sufficient enough to allow "an inference that the accused had both the ability and the intent to exercise dominion and control over the drug." *State v. Fox*, 709 P.2d 316, 319 (Utah 1985). The State failed to establish that Gonzalez-Camargo constructively possessed the methamphetamine located in the northwest bedroom of one of the apartments where it failed to link Appellant to the methamphetamine, failed to establish where the methamphetamine was originally found, and otherwise failed to show that Gonzalez-Camargo had the ability and intent to exercise dominion and control over the contraband located in a metal box. In this case where someone other than Gonzalez-Camargo occupied and dominated the northwest bedroom, it is not clear where the drugs were found, the drugs were not visible, Gonzalez-Camargo did not make incriminating statements or engage in incriminating

behavior regarding the methamphetamine or drug use, and nothing linked Appellant to the metal box or the methamphetamine inside the box, the State failed to sustain its burden of proving constructive possession.

Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) makes it unlawful “for any person knowingly and intentionally to possess or use . . . a controlled substance.” “Actual physical possession is not a required element of the crime of possession of controlled substance.” *State v. Hansen*, 732 P.2d 127, 131 (Utah 1987). Instead, the State can satisfy the possession element of the crime by proving that the defendant had constructive possession of the drugs. *Id.* at 131-32. But to establish constructive possession, the State must prove that the “contraband was found in a place or under circumstances indicating that the accused had the ability and the intent to exercise dominion and control over it.” *Id.* at 132; *see also Spanish Fork City v. Bryan*, 1999 UT App 61, ¶7, 975 P.2d 501 (indicating evidence must establish that defendant “had both the ability and the intent to exercise dominion and control over the drug”) (further citation omitted).

In order to establish constructive possession, the State must do more than establish “mere occupancy of a portion of the premises where the drug is found.” *Hansen*, 732 P.2d at 132. In fact, both the Utah Supreme Court and this Court have made it clear that the evidence must do more than show ownership or mere occupancy and instead must establish a sufficient nexus between the defendant and the contraband to show “that the accused had both the power and the intent to exercise dominion and control over the drug.” *Fox*, 709 P.2d at 319; *see also Hansen*, 732 P.2d at 131-32; *State v. Layman*, 1999 UT 79, 985 P.2d 911; *State v. Salas*, 820 P.2d 1386 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). In other

words, besides mere occupancy, “[t]here must be some additional nexus between the accused and the contraband to show that the accused had the power and intent to exercise dominion and control over it.” *Hansen*, 732 P.2d at 132; *see also Layman*, 1999 UT 79, ¶13. “The sufficiency of the nexus between defendant and the [contraband] depends upon the facts and circumstances of the case,” *Salas*, 820 P.2d at 1388 (citation omitted), and “[t]here must be facts which show that the accused intended to use the drugs or paraphernalia as his own.” *Layman*, 1999 UT 79, ¶13.

Knowledge of the existence of the drugs “and their potential for illegal use” also is not sufficient to establish constructive possession. *Bryan*, 1999 UT App 61, ¶7. “Knowledge and ability to possess do not equal possession where there is no evidence of intent to make use of that knowledge and ability.” *Fox*, 709 P.2d at 319.

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