2011

Utah v. Fernando Gonzalez-Camargo : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Sufficiency of the evidence. Because Defendant was not in actual possession of the methamphetamine, the State was required to demonstrate constructive possession, i.e., he had both the power and intent to exercise dominion and control over the drug. The evidence at trial were sufficient to establish the necessary nexus between Defendant and the drugs. Defendant admitted that he lived in the apartment and that his bedroom was the one where

the drugs were found. Defendant was present in the apartment when officers executed the search warrant. Although he apparently shared the room with his girlfriend, the bedroom was dominated by items to which he claimed a right to (computers) or which were male-related. And finally, the lock box containing the methamphetamine was found on the floor next to the bed, along with two computers. This evidence established the necessary nexus to show constructive possession. This Court should thus affirm Defendant's conviction for possession of methamphetamine.

II. Hearsay. The State concedes that admission of Detective Ellis' testimony that a seized computer was stolen, which was based on a police incident report, was prejudicial error. Accordingly, the State agrees that the case should be remanded for a new trial on the charge of receiving stolen property.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT THAT DEFENDANT UNLAWFULLY POSSESSED METHAMPHETAMINE

At the close of the State's case, Defendant moved for a directed verdict on the ground that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for possession of methamphetamine. R346:111-12,123. The trial court denied the motion and the jury thereafter found Defendant guilty. R346:125-26. Thereafter, Defendant again argued that the evidence was insufficient in a motion to arrest the judgment. See R241-50,269-77. The court also denied that motion. See R291-93 (Addendum B). Defendant challenges this ruling on appeal. See Aplt. Brf. at 15-30. Contrary to Defendant's claim, the evidence was sufficient to support the jury's verdict and this Court should thus affirm.

* * *

When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence from a jury verdict, this Court "accord[s] high deference to the fact-finder at trial." *State v. Hamilton*, 2003 UT 22, ¶ 38, 70 P.3d 111. The Court thus "review[s] the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from it in a light most favorable to the verdict." *State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1212 (Utah 1993). It "'do[es] not weigh conflicting evidence,' nor [does it] 'substitute [its] judgment for that of the fact-finder.'" *Id.* at ¶ 38 (citations omitted). If there is conflicting evidence, the Court

"must 'accept that version of events'" which supports the verdict. *See People v. Maury*, 68 P.3d 1, 30 (Cal. 2003) (citation omitted). This Court "will reverse a criminal conviction for insufficient evidence only when the evidence is so inconclusive or so inherently improbable that 'reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt' that the defendant committed the crime." *State v. Goddard*, 871 P.2d 540, 543 (Utah 1994) (citation omitted).

In this case, Defendant was tried for "knowingly and intentionally ... possess[ing] ... a controlled substance," in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(2)(a)(i) (West Supp. 2009). The State was thus required to establish that Defendant was either in "actual physical possession" or in "constructive possession" of the baggies of methamphetamine found in the lock box in the bedroom he shared with his girlfriend. *See State v. Fox*, 709 P.2d 316, 318-19 (Utah 1985).

A person is said to be in "constructive possession" of an object when he or she does not have actual physical possession of the item, but nevertheless has "both the power and the intent to exercise dominion and control over [it]." *Fox*, 709 P.2d at 319. Typically, the doctrine of constructive possession is used to establish possession of drugs found in a location occupied by multiple people. *See, e.g. State v. Workman*, 2005 UT 66, 122 P.3d 639 (finding live-in girl friend to be in constructive possession of meth lab in apartment where she and her

boyfriend lived). The doctrine is also used in cases where the defendant is absent or separated from the place where the drugs are found. *See, e.g. Fox*, 709 P.2d 316 (finding owner/occupant to be in constructive possession of marijuana growing at home even though he was no longer there).

When drugs are found on a defendant's person, the fact of physical possession is direct evidence of the defendant's "power and intent to exercise dominion and control over the drug." *Fox*, 709 P.2d at 319. But when the defendant does not have actual physical possession, the State must demonstrate that "the drugs were subject to the defendant's dominion and control and the defendant had the intent to exercise that control." *State v. Layman*, 1999 UT 79, ¶ 16, 985 P.2d 911. To do so, the State must rely on other facts to establish "the necessary nexus" between the defendant and the contraband. *Spanish Fork City v. Bryan*, 1999 UT App 61, ¶ 10, 975 P.2d 501.

"Whether a sufficient nexus between the accused and the drug exists depends upon the facts and circumstances of each case." *Fox*, 709 P.2d at 319. Factors that may be relevant in determining possession "include[e] ownership and/or occupancy of the residence or vehicle where the drugs were found, presence of defendant at the time [the] drugs were found, defendant's proximity to the drugs, previous drug use, incriminating statements or behavior, [and] presence of drugs in a specific area where the defendant had control." *Workman*,

2005 UT 66, ¶ 32. These considerations, however, “are not ‘universally pertinent,’” and the list is not exhaustive. *Id.* (quoting *Layman*, 1999 UT 79, ¶¶ 14-15). A review of the record in this case reveals that the evidence was sufficient to support the jury’s finding of possession.

First, the methamphetamine was found in the northwest bedroom of Apartment D. R345:125-27,154,161-62,174-75,191,204-05,239; DVD4:26-31; R346:31,53-54. At the scene, Defendant admitted to UAG agents that he lived in the apartment with his girlfriend, R345:228-29, and specifically indicated to the agents when he was inside that the northwest bedroom was his, R345:233-34. Second, Defendant was in the apartment when officers entered to conduct the search. *See* R345:130,172,227-28,248-49. Third, and contrary to Defendant’s claim on appeal, *see* Aplt. Brf. 26,29, the northwest bedroom was dominated by his possessions and effects, not his girlfriend’s. It is true that some items belonging to a woman were in the bedroom—a purse next to the door, *see* DVD3:34-38; some women’s clothing in the closet, *see* DVD3:47-4:18; and two jewelry boxes on the bed—though it is not clear whether they contained men’s or women’s jewelry, *see* DVD4:32-40. Otherwise, however, the room was cluttered with computers—which Defendant admitted were his—electronic parts, tools, and other items typically associated with men. *See* DVD3:03-5:05.

Moreover, Agent Metcalf, who with Agent Spann, was the first to enter the apartment after it was cleared, testified that the lock box containing the methamphetamine was found on the floor next to the mattress. *See* R345:171,191. And a review of the video shows that two of the laptop computers were also on the floor next to the bed — one at the side of the bed and the other at the foot of the bed. *See* DVD4:44-54. This fact further supports the inference that the lock box, and the items therein, were Defendant's. *See Workman*, 2005 UT 66, ¶34 (recognizing that the intermingling of personal items with contraband is a factor supporting a finding of constructive possession).

Defendant argues that the location of the lock box cannot be certain, because the SWAT team, none of whom testified, entered the room first to clear the area and to conduct a drug sniff by the canine unit. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 15. However, Agent Call testified that the SWAT team "do[es]n't search [for items] at all," but act to secure the residence for safety reasons. R345:122. Although the team conducted a drug sniff, nothing in the record suggests that they moved any items.

In sum, the evidence at trial provided "a sufficient nexus between [Defendant] and the drug to permit an inference that [he] had both the power and the intent to exercise dominion and control over the drug." *Fox*, 709 P.2d at

319. Accordingly, this Court should affirm Defendant's conviction for possession of methamphetamine.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED HEARSAY TESTIMONY THAT THE LAPTOP COMPUTER WAS STOLEN AND DEFENDANT IS THUS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL FOR RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY

In establishing that the seized laptop computer with a Utah State University sticker on it was stolen, the State relied on the testimony of Officer Kim Ellis of the Utah State University Police Department. *See* R346:34-51. Over the objections of defense counsel, Officer Ellis testified that an incident report showed that the subject laptop computer was reported stolen in August 2009. *See* R346:44-45,50. On appeal, Defendant argues that this testimony was inadmissible hearsay, meriting a new trial on the charge of receiving stolen property. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 31-39. The State agrees.

Detective Ellis explained that when a computer is reported stolen from the University, his office makes a report of it. *See* R346:44-45. He testified that according to his report, the subject laptop was taken in August of 2009. R346:50-51. This Court has held that as a general rule, "[p]olice reports are not eligible for admission under either [the business records or public records exceptions] of Rule 803." *State v. Morrell*, 803 P.2d 292, 298 (Utah App. 1990). Police records of "routine matters," such as the date a crime was reported, are an exception to the

rule. *State v. Bertul*, 664 P.2d 1181, 1184 (Utah 1983). But police reports of the factual events and details of a criminal case "should ordinarily be excluded." *Id.* at 1184-85. The incident report upon which Detective Ellis relied appears to fall within this category. Accordingly, the State concedes that it was error to admit this evidence.

To merit reversal, Defendant must also show that the error was prejudicial, i.e., "that there is 'a reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings.'" *State v. Workman*, 2005 UT 66, ¶ 23, 122 P.3d 639 (citation omitted). The State concedes that based on the trial record, such a likelihood exists and that a new trial is thus warranted on the charge of receiving stolen property.

Because the State concedes that admission of Detective Ellis' hearsay testimony constituted prejudicial error, this Court need not, and should not, address Defendant's constitutional claim that admission of the testimony violated his right to confrontation. *See State v. Nelson*, 2007 UT App 34, ¶15, 157